ALL BLUES

comping styles, chords & grooves

MB96842BCD \$22.95



y Jim Ferguson Guitar Master Class Publications



At last, the most comprehensive guide to jazz/blues comping styles for guitar ever written. Details straight-four rhythm approaches, swing and bebop ensemble comping, and walking bass lines with chords—all in tab as well as standard notation.

Also includes:

- Blues progressions
- "Fat chords"
- Voice-leading
- Shuffles
- Swing riff comping
- Bebop comping
- Triads over bass notes
- Modal concepts
- Over 100 music examples
- Over 45 complete choruses
 And much more!

Grammy-nominated writer Jim Ferguson has contributed to many international publications and is a former editor of *Guitar Player*. A noted educator, he has a Master of Fine Arts degree and is a college music instructor. According to *Cadence Magazine*, "Bluesy and swinging, Ferguson bears up under repeated listening."

Guitar Master Class Publications Box 551 Santa Cruz, CA 95061-0551



Distributed exclusively by Mel Bay Publications #4 Industrial Drive Pacific, MO 63069-0066 1-800-8-Mel-Bay



ALL BLUES for

JAZZ GUITAR

comping styles, chords & grooves

By Jim Ferguson

Guitar Master Class Publications

Box 551 Santa Cruz, CA 95061-0551

Exclusively distributed by Mel Bay Publications, Inc.



ISBN 0-7866-3128-7

Graphics and layout by GMCP Photography by Matt Reliley Hands: Larry Allen Cover guitar: 1963 Gibson L5-CES

©1997 Guitar Master Class Publications International Copyright Secured. All Rights Reserved. Printed In U.S.A. Unauthorized copying, arranging, adapting, editing, etc. are prohibited.

CONTENTS

Introduction 4

About The Notation, Chord Symbols & Fingerings 5

12-Bar Blues Progressions

From Swing To Bop 6

Blues Roots 7

Modern I-IV-V 7

T-Bone's 12-Bar Blues 8

Minor Blues 8

New York Changes 9

2 In The Tradition— Straight-Four Rhythm

Fat Chords 10

Articulation, Attack, Swing 12

Basic Blues Chord Routes 14

Voice-Leading 17

More Active Patterns 18

Modern Changes, Traditional Approach 25

2/2 Style 26

Shuffle Grooves 27

Slow Blues 29

3 Swing To Bop— Small-Group Comping

Riff Comping 32

Riff Structure 33

Chord Riffs 35

Bebop-Linear Comping 47

The Blues Scale Factor 52

Advanced Voice-Leading 58

Beyond Bop-Triads Over Bass Notes 61

Modal Concepts 64

4 Fingers Do The Walking— Bass Line/Chord Comping

Constructing Walking Bass Lines 68

Roots And Approaches 69

Chords And Walking Lines Together 71

Increasing Rhythmic Variety 73

Other Bass Line Routes 74

Advanced Rhythms And Concepts 79

Putting It All Together In G 82

Bass Lines In Other Keys 85

Glossary 87

12-BAR BLUES PROGRESSIONS

Before exploring the specific elements of comping approaches, it is constructive to understand the range of blues progressions used in jazz. While blues melodic ideas can be applied in varying degrees to virtually any tune, the purest blues song form is 12-bars long.

From Swing To Bop

This book focuses on the following basic progression, which is common to both swing and bebop. (As with all progressions in this section, the Roman numeral notation indicates *basic* root movements and chord qualities only; there are many possible interpretations and variations. In other words, progressions in Roman numeral form only represent harmonic skeletons.)



It can be embellished with substitute and passing chords in many ways; the next example represents just one possibility.



Blues Roots

The 12-bar structure's exact origin is unknown; however, it probably reaches back to the late 1800s. The next two particless, it comprises three four-bar phrases (discussed in more detail in Chapter 3). The next two particless, it comprises three four-bar phrases (discussed in more detail in Chapter 3). The next two particless, it comprises three four-bar phrases (discussed in more detail in Chapter 3). The next two particless, it comprises three four-bar phrases (discussed in more detail in Chapter 3). The next two particless, it comprises three four-bar phrases (discussed in more detail in Chapter 3). The next two particless, it comprises three four-bar phrases (discussed in more detail in Chapter 3). The next two particless, it comprises the second is linked to purer, more down-home blues styles; however, remember that these particless are not mutually exclusive. While in both cases the IV7 chord is indicated in measure 2, it particles are not mutually exclusive only the tonic chord (I7; again, certain chord qualities are probable).



Modern I-IV-V

This next variation is associated with modern arrangers such as Thad Jones. It is based on the downhome version of the blues but features a more sophisticated turnaround.



T-Bone's 12-Bar Blues

A common offshoot of the swing/bebop blues worth mentioning is the "Stormy Monday" progression, so called because it is the basis of the well-known tune by T-Bone Walker. It's usually taken at a relatively slow tempo.



Minor Blues

In a minor key, 12-bar progressions used in mainstream jazz include these variants (the first is basic, the second more elaborate):



New York Changes

"Confirmation" blues, because it utilizes changes similar to those of the Charlie Parker tune of the same "Confirmation" isn't a 12-bar blues; one example of how Parker used this progression in a 12-bar set is "Blues For Alice.")



The swing/bebop progression forms the basic harmonic skeleton for many tunes, including ones minen by Charlie Parker ("Now's The Time," "Billie's Bounce," "Bloomdido," "Relaxin' At Camarillo," "Cool Blues"), Barney Kessel ("Swedish Pastry"), Sonny Rollins ("Tenor Madness," "Blues For Philly loe"), and many others. It is also frequently applied to 12-bar tunes not originally written for this specific sequence, such as Duke Ellington's "C Jam Blues" and "Things Ain't What They Used To Be" and John Coltrane's "Trane's Blues." Many artists wouldn't consider a set or an album complete without including at least one blues, a process that has resulted in innumerable originals by players who didn't or don't normally consider themselves composers.

While the overwhelming variations in terms of chord voicings, inversions, and substitutions preclude touching on every possibility, within these pages you'll find a wealth of professional practices, including hip devices, voicings, connections, and rhythmic phrases. Each will be discussed as it arises. Feel free to open this book to any point; however, it is highly recommend that you work from the beginning so that a detail introduced in one context is not overlooked when it is applied to another. Starting now, make it your goal to transfer these ideas to every key—especially those most commonly used in jazz: C, Eb, F, G, Ab, Bb, and even Db and Gb.

2 IN THE TRADITION— STRAIGHT-FOUR RHYTHM

Straight four-to-the-bar rhythm playing is synonymous with Freddie "Mr. Rhythm" Green, who held the guitar chair with Count Basie's various large and small groups for a half century. But there were many other fine rhythm guitarists, including George Van Eps, Allan Reuss, Carl Kress, George Barnes, Steve Jordan, and, more recently, Bucky Pizzarelli, Wayne Wright, Jim Hall, and Herb Ellis. To a degree, this style is also associated with both western and Django Reinhardt-inspired Gypsy swing, and it can even be applied to purer blues forms.

Although this approach to rhythm playing is often overlooked by players interested in more modern jazz styles, any guitarist who aspires to increase his or her ability to play jazz can gain a wealth of highly useful knowledge and skills, including solid rhythmic acuity, familiarity with the inner workings of the fingerboard, and an awareness of voice-leading (the movement of individual notes, or voices). Essential in a big band context, it can also be used in small-group settings and even combined with the piano/horn section-type comping addressed in Chapter 3.

"Fat Chords"

The traditional Freddie Green-forged type of rhythm work primarily employs three-note open-voiced chords played on strings six, four, and three, although chords with more notes can occasionally be used. George Barnes referred to three-note voicings as "fat chords," due to their full sound, a by-product of the wide interval, often a tenth, between their outer voices. Most three-note chords are easy to finger and can be grabbed quickly; however, becoming fluent with them can be a thorny proposition, especially if your knowledge of the fingerboard isn't what it could be. The difficulties are three-fold:

 The qualities of three-note chords generally encompass the four triads (major, minor, augmented, and diminished), as well as 6th, 7th, minor 7th, major 7th, diminished 7th, and a few miscellaneous chords, such as 9th and minor/major7th. Chords beyond the triad necessitate that one or more notes be omitted, and when the root (tonic) is left out, a structure can be tricky to locate on the fingerboard due to the absence of common reference points.

2. This leads to a phenomenon that is both a difficulty and an advantage: Chords in general, and many three-note chords in particular, can be applied to more than one harmonic context. In other words, they have more than one name—and are sometimes referred to as "chord synonyms"—and can be used for a variety of purposes, which can be confusing initially.

3. This final point is less of a difficulty and can be easily learned: Since most three-note chords are in open voicing, a string (usually the 5th) must be skipped and damped, or muffled. To do this, touch the unwanted string with part of your finger positioned on the next lower string.

Fortunately, three-note chords (and many others) can be systematized to a certain extent and grouped in ways that facilitate not only their memorization, but also their location on the fingerboard. Before we begin to take a look at some of these methods, familiarize yourself with the following G major triads in root position, first inversion, and second inversion, respectively (G is used so the chords can be presented in order, starting with root position):



Chromatically raising the 5th of a root-position triad transforms the G major triad into the following (sometimes it is useful to finger the 5th of the root-position major triad on the fifth string):

G	Gaug	G6	G7	Gmaj7
XO XX	x xx	X XX	X XX	X XX
	•			
		•2		
•3	•3	• 3	6 2 6 3	•
•4		•4	\$ 4	

Other chords associated with this position include:



Lowering the 3rd of a root-position major triad results in a root-position minor triad. If you then chromatically raise its 5th, you produce:

Gm	Gm#5	Gm6	Gm7	Gm/maj7
XO XX	X XX	x xx	X XX	X XX
		•2		
4 1	•3 •4	•3 •4		• •

The first-inversion G major triad is less flexible (for instance, apart from Gaug, chromatically raising its 5th in the preceding manner produces fingerings that are rarely used). Here are the most common chords associated with this position:



Chromatically lowering the root of second-inversion G major generates these commonly used chords:



Beginning with a second-inversion minor triad and then chromatically lowering the root produces these:



Finally, we have these miscellaneous items (Gaug is produced by raising the 5th of the secondinversion G major triad; G7b5 and G7t5 arise from respectively lowering and raising the 5th of G7):



Observe that some of the preceding chords shown in diagram form share the same physical shape. While a thorough study of chord synonyms is beyond the scope of this book, begin to think of these as having more than one letter name. For instance, root-position Gm6 in three-note form (G-E-B₂, from low to high) can be viewed and used as Gdim7 (no 5th), C7 (no root), F\$7/9 (no root, no 5th), and Em7/5 (no root, no 7th).

Many of the preceding chords are used in the music to come. While some of their shapes suggest only one practical fingering, others can be played in more than one way. When you begin to apply them to actual progressions and thread them together, look for places where the same finger can be used for more than one chord in succession. This device, known as the "guide finger," can enable you to change chords smoothly and quickly with little effort. With three-note chords, guides usually involve the third string and fingers 3 or 4. Before we begin looking at some complete 12-bar examples, however, two other topics merit consideration.

Articulation, Attack, Swing

The sound and rhythmic feel of traditional four-to-the-bar jazz rhythm is critical. While extensive listening is essential, here are a few helpful tips.

Authentic rhythm playing can only be achieved with a pick, whose crisp sound is unobtainable with any other method. (Many purists feel that an unamplified arch-top is the only possibility, although you

can get a surprisingly good sound on an electric hollowbody, and even a solidbody). If you play fingerstyle, use your thumb , although even the longest, strongest nail falls short of the pick's clarity.

A variety of articulations are possible depending on a tune's tempo, and the exact nature of the articulations involved is subject to debate. Of the tunes that are most appropriate for a straight rhythm approach, the majority are taken at tempos ranging from medium (=116) to brisk (=184) swing. By in large, every example in this chapter, should be treated like so, which emphasizes beats two and four, commonly referred to as the back beat or after beat):



Notice that the included articulations indicate that beats 1 and 3 are played as a full quarter-note, while two and four are slightly accented and detached so that the quarter-note is closer to equaling a dottedeighth (this can be achieved with left-hand damping by slightly relaxing the finger pressure applied to the strings). At very fast tempos, it is relatively common, and often effective, to play all four beats as being detached. It is also possible to alternate between this articulation and one that emphasizes the back beats; exactly when this is done in the course of a tune depends on the player's discretion. Slow tempos can be realized by either playing the usual articulation, albeit at the slower tempo, or by sustaining the chords as long as possible. All of the preceding articulations can be effective, depending on how they're applied.

In traditional rhythm playing, it is also acceptable to occasionally play upbeats, although overuse of this device can make a piece sound dated and more like Django-inspired Gypsy swing than conventional jazz. Probably the most appropriate point at which to use an upstroke is on the "and" of beat four, right before a chord change (it is common for the left hand to be released on the "and" of four, producing more of a percussive effect than discernable pitches):



Chart Interpretation

Rhythm guitar parts usually reflect one of two extremes. In the first, common to big band scores, a chart's chords are presented in too much detail, the result of attempting to indicate an arrangement's overall harmonic scheme. In this case, the guitar only needs to play the basics. In other words, when faced with changes that include extensions and alterations, simplify them. In most instances, chords usually should be reduced to 7ths and simpler.

Sometimes, however, a chart provides only a harmonic skeleton. In this case, it is usually appropriate to add passing chords, many of which are to be found in the following examples. The key is listening to the bass player, whose stylistic influences will suggest not only the degree to which you can add passing chords, but also indicate their nature. A final bit of advice: To help maintain a cohesive sense of time in the rhythm section, focus your ears on the drummer's hi-hat, which emphasizes beats two and four.

Basic Blues Chord Routes

Rhythm guitar should be fun to play and involve an element of creativity. At the same time, it should fit into the musical surroundings. With a good knowledge of three-note chords and progressions, you should ultimately be able to spontaneously thread together effective, flexible, logical patterns that constitute a kind of rhythm-oriented improvisation. But to do that, you have to start with the basics. Bb Blues. This complete 12-bar chorus, in the key of Bb, is the first example of a blues progression

Bb Blues. This complete 12-bar chorus, in the key of bb, is the hist example of a large played with three-note chords. Only three different fingerings are used for the entire 12 bars:

X X X	X X X	XXX
		01 0103
•1	•z •3	
H		

Although this simple treatment utilizes no passing chords, it can be effective if a bit monotonous. Focus on the articulation of your attack, maintaining the proper feel, and developing rock-solid time. Also pay attention to how guide fingers ease moving from one chord to the next. (First, play the initial Bb7 chord with fingers 1, 2 and 3 and limit yourself to using only those fingers for the rest of the piece; notice that your 3rd finger can remain on the third string throughout. Next, use fingers 2, 3, and 4, keeping 4 on the third string throughout.)





This next pattern begins the same as the preceding one, but takes an alternative route to VI7 (G7). (Note the second-inversion Cm7 in bars 9 and 12.) While three-note chords confined to strings six, four, and three are limited in terms of providing strong starting and ending points for progressions—in this case, a typical blues—there are many ways they can be connected and routed when substitutes and passing chords are added to the equation, as you will soon see. Again, work with more than one fingering and apply the guide concept.

"Blues Basis"





F Blues. This next chorus and pattern introduces the key of F and represents a new fingerboard starting point. (Whereas the previous examples began with a root-position dominant 7th, now you

All Blues

begin with a dominant 7th in second inversion.) Notice how the pattern works its way down to F7 at the first fret; from there, the turnaround ascends, resolving back to second-inversion F7.



Here's another sequence that begins with second- inversion F7, but this time an alternate route is taken to VI7 (D7):







16

The four preceding 12-bar choruses represent not only two of the most common jazz keys, but also two different starting points on the fingerboard. Memorize these patterns, playing them until they become second nature. Next, begin transposing them to other keys. Although they use very few chords combined, they include enough possibilities to play in every conceivable key.

Voice-Leading

Although a thorough discussion of voice-leading—the relationship between the notes of two successive chords—is beyond the scope of this book—the use of more active patterns that employ common substitutions and passing chords warrants its consideration.

It is possible to construct a rhythm guitar part that sometimes uses relatively wide distances between chords (by jumping up or down the fingerboard); however, for the most part the connections should be smooth and closely related. Fortunately, three-note chords are simple and flexible enough to allow this with relative ease. Depending on where you are on the fingerboard, certain progressions allow you to select inversions that produce voice-leading that is very pleasing—both aesthetically and theoretically. For instance, consider this IIm7-V7-I in the key C major:



In moving from the second-inversion Dm7 to root-position G7, notice that the outer voices both descend by step—C moves down a half-step as A moves down a whole—while F remains in common to both chords. Next, in moving from root-position G7 to second-inversion C, G remains in common while the upper voices move in contrary motion: F goes down one half-step to E, while B ascends to C. The overall effect is smooth and logical.

When circumstances—including certain harmonic sequences or fingerboard locations—make maintaining smooth connections between every note inconvenient if not impossible, focus your attention on one of two places: either the uppermost voice or the bass. In the next example—a common IV-IVdim7-I progression in the key of G—although second-inversion C's lower two voices each skip upward by a minor third interval, the upper voice rises by a half-step in moving to Cddim7, creating an overall effect that is smooth and logical as it finally connects to I in first inversion:



Equal success can sometimes be had by focusing primarily on the bass voice. Remember that the overall goal is to seamlessly thread your way through a given progression. As you work your way up to using passing chords, remember to generally reserve the strong beats (the first and third) for chords that are directly related to the harmony at hand, using passing chords for the weak beats (the second and fourth). All that having been said, let's now look at some ways of treating a 12-bar blues with chord changes that are more active.

More Active Chordal Patterns

Half-Step Approaches

One of the most effective chordal devices that will help you to seamlessly string together one chord after another is the half-step approach concept. Due to its simplicity, it makes a good place to begin creating chord patterns that are active, although playing more chords isn't required and sometimes isn't appropriate. It does, however, provide more opportunity to sculpt the voice-leading and make a part more interesting.

By Blues. Throughout the following 12-bar chorus in Bb, the familiar principal blues chords are approached at strategic times—often on the weak beats— from a half-step above or below. (It's also good to know that when you use a dominant 7th to approach a chord from a half-step above, the dominant 7th is in a b5 relationship to the target chord's V7. This is commonly known as a b5 (or lowered 5th) substitute. Mastering this type of movement is an excellent preliminary step to including other chord devices, many of which are covered in the pages to come.







Mixed Concepts

Now let's see how concepts can be combined. The next two examples are devoted to more active patterns in the key of F in that they feature at least two chords per measure. Remember that the use of guide fingers is essential when changing chords so frequently. Furthermore, don't be distracted by the extra chord symbols; frequently, the important aspects are the target, or main, chords, and how you get to them, not the specific names of each little step along the way.

F Blues. This first 12-bar chorus begins with a quintessential and universally useful swing progression: I-I7-IV6-IVm6-I that can be used for everything from "rhythm changes" to standards like "Honeysuckle Rose" to turnarounds. Particularly notice the use of inversions; second- inversion F and F7 lead to root-position B_b6 and B_bm6, which lead to first-inversion F—very smooth. The progression descends; here's an equivalent inversion-specific ascending sequence—I7-I-IV6-‡IVdim7-I7—that moves up from I7's root:



In measure 3, C7 is used as a passing chord (any chord can be preceded by its dominant 7th). Bar 4 features the half-step approach principle. Root-position F7 moves up to first-inversion F, after which A7 approaches Bo7 from a half-step below (try using Faug instead of A7). There are several ways measure 4 could be treated. One is to use this type of harmonized one-chord-per-beat method (since the chord names are open to interpretation, it might be simpler to just think of this as a kind of walking passage based on F7 and leave it at that. (Here the idea is used for I7, but it could be applied to any dominant 7th chord; furthermore, the rhythm can be expanded, a device also known as augmenta-



tion, so that you play each chord for two beats, as you'll see later in this chapter.)

You could also use a passing diminished 7th chord, like so:



A minor 7th chord can temporarily replace a dominant 7th, as in bar 5 where Fm7 briefly replaces Bb7. Here's the substitution rule: Regardless of a dominant 7th's function in a progression, temporarily think of it as V7; the minor 7th that you want to use in its place would then be its IIm7 chord, whose root name is a perfect fifth above the root name of the dominant 7th. So, for Bb7 (the temporary V7 of Eb), substitute Fm7, IIm7 of Eb.

In measure 6, Bdim7 links B₀7 to F7 (a IV7-‡IVdim7-I7). Ideally, the bass should move from a rootposition IV7 chord to root-position ‡IVdim7 to second-inversion I7 as it does here, although this concept can also be used with other inversions. Bars 7 and 8 descend chromatically from F7 to D7, while measure 8's D7₀5 (the equivalent of A₀7) approaches bar 9's Gm7 from a half-step above. Also in bar 9, D₀7 approaches measure 10's C7 from a half-step above, and C7₀5 (essentially the same as F‡7) approaches measure 11's F7 from a half-step above. The turnaround in bars 11 and 12 features no frills, although the concluding C7 requires a leap up the fingerboard for the repeat. In this case the leap is acceptable since what follows is so smooth, but if you wanted to make a more seamless transition back to the beginning, use this ascending turnaround:



seems the complete chorus, which should smoothly groove:

"Freddie's Horne" B>6 B m6 C7 F7 Fm7 Bdim7 8-7 B_b7 E7 Eb7 D7 D7>5 Gm7 Do7 C7 C755 F7 D7 Gm7 C7

The next 12 begins in the same manner, but heads in a different direction in measure 2, as Bdim7 leads to second-inversion F7. In bar 3, there's another minor 7th substitute, this time for I7. Measure 4's F7b5 (the same as B7) approaches Bb7 from a half-step above. The treatment in bars 5 and 6 should be familiar by now.

Measures 7 and 8 can be viewed in more than one way. As the progression stands, it's a I-IV6-IIIm7-VI7, which is common to bebop (more on this later), and makes for smooth voice-leading. But if you think of Bl/6 as Gm, the progression becomes I-IIm-IIIm7, which suggests the "Stormy Monday" sequence. It sounds good, regardless of how you think of it.

In bar 9, a root-position Gm7 is followed by first-inversion Gm and then B7, which approaches C7 from a half-step below. This progression is the minor equivalent of measure 4 in the preceding 12-bar example. Here are a couple of common one-chord-per-beat variations; the first moves to C7 with a All Blues









24

Modern Changes, Traditional Approach

Blues. While this next example in Bb features some familiar devices, it also takes routes that are more transitic and common to bebop. Although measure 1's I6-I7 suggests the swing era, the VIm7-bVIm7-bV7 sequence in bars 3 and 4 is more bebop-oriented (in measure 3, Bb could replace Gm7 and C7 and C7 replace Gb7). Bars 5 and 6 include previously discussed devices; however, in bars 7 and 8 the protension again takes a more chromatic turn as it moves from I7 to IV7 to IIIm7 to bIII7 (a common sub to VI7). In measures 9 and 10, the normal II7 and V7 chords are each preceded by their minor 7th subtrates, creating a series of IIm7-V7s. Finally, the turnaround leaps from Bb6 in bar 11 to Db7 and then the seconds, forming a I6-bIII7-II7-bII7. All in all, a modern treatment in a traditional package.

"Swinging On The Spot"







2/2 Style

C Blues. Even when playing in groups where your main job is maintaining straight four-to-the-bar underpinning, it may occasionally be appropriate to intersperse choruses of 2/2 (the time signature could also be indicated with the alla breve, or "cut time," symbol). Some bass players particularly like to mix this up with straight four, and when the two feels are factored into an arrangement, the result can be quite effective. This time the key is C, and although this style gravitates toward standard ensemble comping, the use of three-note chords and conservative rhythmic figures keep things from straying too far afield.

Most of the devices are common. Notice the use of four-note voicings in measures 2 and 3. Bar 4's Gb7 is equivalent to C7b9 and approaches F7 by a half-step. In measure 5, Gb7 approaches Fm7 by a half-step. (Bar 6's IVm7-bVII7 is a "back door" method of connecting IV7 to 17.). Bars 7 and 8 move from I7 to IV7 to IIIm7, but instead of going to VI7, IIIm7 chromatically descends to IIm7 via bIIm7. The turn-around leaps from C7 up to Eb7 (equivalent to VI7, or A7), and then descends chromatically to Dm7 and then Db7). With a metronome clicking on beats two and four, try going back and forth between this chorus with one played in straight four.







Shuffle Grooves

F Blues. Although the next chorus is based on 17-IV7-V7 blues changes rather than the jazz version, it demonstrates how three-note chords can be used in a more down-home situation. Bars 1 through 3 are a simple variation of a harmonized figure discussed earlier, but without the chromaticism. In measure 3 the idea is carried up one step further before it again descends and approaches Bb7 from a half-step above in measure 5.

In bars 5 and 6 the same type of idea is adapted for Bb7, and then F7 is approached from a half-step above in measure 7. Finally, the turnaround is based upon the universally useful I-I7-IV6-IVm6-I sequence mentioned earlier. In this case, though, it is reduced so that each chord gets one beat, leading things back to F in bar 12. From there, C7 is approached from a half-step above (Db7 could be interpreted as Abdim7), and then another half-step approach takes things back to the top.

Play with a laid-back loping feel, sustaining the chords for as long as possible. Also play each chord twice with a true shuffle swing-eighths feel.









Here are two other turnarounds that could also be plugged into the last two measures (how you get into them is up to you). The first one is similar to the "universal" sequence but uses a I-I7-IV-#IVdim7-1 and ascends instead of descends. The second jumps from root-position F7 up to first- inversion F, and then moves down chromatically. Bar 12 has a bluesy down-home flavor and works well when used as the last measure of the "universal" progression:





These alternative shuffle-type patterns also work well in a I-IV-V context. There are any number of ways they can be applied to the complete 12-bar form; find some of them on your own. Notice that they're shown in the key of G instead of F (for reasons that should be obvious) and they include elements played on the off beats. Even though other chords are employed, think of the patterns as being centered around I.

The first example uses only major chords, but you could also use G7 instead of G (for the G major chord, try using the alternate fingering that places D on the fifth string). The second uses a half-step approach that brings things back to G7:



Slow Blues

G Blues. Slower tempos seem to beg for more activity, supplied here by using a chord per beat. Nevertheless, many of these ideas will work well at medium and fast clips. Be sure to transpose elements so you can play them in all keys. Chordal concepts used earlier in this chapter will be described only briefly.

This first example begins at the 3rd fret, walks up through measure 1 and continues with the same idea through measure 2. Bar 3 features the universal I-I7-IV6-IVm6 reduced to one chord per beat, moving down to measure 4's first-inversion G. From there, the sequence takes a somewhat different route than seen before, moving from I to V7 to I7 to V7, which places passing chords on the weak beats.

"Walking lines" often begin with a root-position chord; however, measure 5 begins with secondinversion. In measure 6, the V7 of IV7 (G7) moves things back to IV7, which in turn heads for I via IV6. These devices have been used earlier, but not in the same manner. Here's an alternative route for measures 3 through 6 that uses a series of half-step approaches involving minor 7th chords, moves down to C7, and then back up where it resolves to bar 7's first-inversion G:



Measure 7 momentarily shifts up from first-inversion G and then back down as it ultimately heads toward VI7 in measure 8, where the fourth-beat Bbm7 approaches Am7 from a half-step above. The low E7 will sound good if you take care to damp the open A string; if you want, also include fifth-string B at the second fret. To avoid going that low altogether, try this alternative route for bar 8, which is just one of many possibilities:



Measure 9 features a nice minor-based walking passage mentioned earlier in the chapter, and smoothly moves to bar 10, which features half-step approaches. The turnaround—one of the most common and best sounding in the jazz guitar vocabulary—also relies on the half-step approach. At the indicated tempo, play the chords as legato (sustained) as possible.







This next example begins in another fingerboard location and again uses some familiar devices. Measure 1 features half-step approaches, while bar 2 walks down from IV7 to I7 (observe the third-inversion C9). The harmonization in measure 3 is similar to one used earlier in the key of F, with the exception of the half-step approaches at the end of bar 4. Measure 5 moves from second-inversion C7 to root position with another third-inversion 9th chord and a diminished 7th passing chord, while bar 6 features a pattern that has been used many times over. Half-step movements are used in measures 7 and 8 and 11 and 12.







Afterthoughts

Don't forget to transpose these ideas to all keys. Ideally, you should be able to spin out chorus after chorus, regardless of the number of chords you choose to play in each measure. The quantity of the chords isn't the imperative—it's time and tone.

3 SWING TO BOP-SMALL-GROUP COMPING

Freddie Green-style rhythm playing can, of course, be used in a small-group context; however, more modern comping approaches are essentially modeled after either a big or small band horn section or a pianist's left hand. Depending on the music's style, a wide variety of rhythmic approaches are possible—from riffs that repeat over the course of a blues' 12 bars to linear, free-flowing figures with little or no repetition from chorus to chorus. Each has its place and can accommodate a wide variety of chord voicings and harmonic concepts.

Riff Comping

Riff guitar comping is similar to how the big bands of the '30s—led by Bennie Moten, Count Basie, and others—used repeated rhythmic figures for ensemble backgrounds. "Some of the musicians in early black bands couldn't read that great, so they developed riffs by ear," says planist McCoy Tyner. "Notation came later." Riffs also formed the basis of many great solos and, while used more sparingly by bop and post-bop stylists, remain one of the jazz vocabulary's most venerable devices that warrants detailed study since it provides a fundamental starting point for so many aspects of improvisation.

Frequently the terms riff and lick are used interchangeably, but they are distinctly different. A riff is a repeated idea—a kind of ostinato that can have a 1-, 2- or, 4-bar structure—whereas a lick is a memorized melodic fragment, phrase, or cliché that is not designed to be repeated. Many jazz tunes are based on riffs—especially blues. Although the riff is most often considered to be a melodic component of improvisation and composition, aspects can be effectively applied to comping and teach a great deal about phrasing, form, and structure.

Comping riffs differ from melodic riffs in several respects, but they also have a great deal in common. In a blues context, the comping riff can be a 1-, 2-, or 4-bar rhythmic idea, although 4-bar figures can take several forms and bring greater variety to the overall 12-bar structure. Since many riffs are based on rhythmic figures that may not have enough rhythmic elements to accommodate all possible chord substitutions, in some cases you may have to reduce the number of chords in a progression to its simplest form. By the same token, you should feel under no obligation to include every possible chord change in the first place—frequently a simple idea is the most effective. Furthermore, even when you are presented with the opportunity to frequently change chords, you simply may not wish to do so because it doesn't fit into your conception at the moment.

Once you develop a feel for riff comping in all of its forms, you'll be able to not only spontaneously play chorus after chorus, but also tell in advance whether or not a figure is going to work. There are seemingly endless possibilities, and many of these ideas can be applied to forms other than 12-bar blues, including 16- and 32-measure tunes. Now let's, in turn, take a look at 1-, 2-, and 4-bar figures, and then see how they can be combined with wide variety of chord voicings.

Riff Structure

1-Bar Riffs

Due to their repetitive nature, 1-bar patterns can be highly effective—both as accompaniments to beads and in building tension behind a soloist. Their downside, however, is that they can quickly become boring if overused.

To start let's take a look at perhaps the most common I-bar rhythmic idea, the "Charleston" figure, which traditionally features an eighth-note value located on the first beat of the measure and an off-beat eighth on the "and" of two. The following example shows the Charleston figure, as well as three related variations that use the same number of elements as the original. (Adding more elements leads to numerous other possibilities; for instance, the first eighth could be divided into two sixteenth-note values.) At first their differences may seem subtle; however, when put to use they can individually yield unique results. Thinking in terms of rhythmic relatives can be a very powerful tool, so be sure to add it to your musical vocabulary.



Here are four more figures. Keeping accuracy and swing your utmost priorities, be able to count them out, tap or clap them, and imagine them in your mind's eye. In other words, become so familiar with them that you can count them in your sleep. Work out others on your own by first applying the concept of rhythmic relatives, and then move on to entirely new figures. Even if you limit yourself to rest and note values no smaller than an eighth in duration, there are many possibilities. While these work well as isolated figures, they can also serve as building blocks for 2- and 4-bar patterns.



2-Bar Riffs

These patterns have similar tension-building capabilities as 1-bar patterns, except that they are twice as long and therefore usually proportionally less prone to becoming monotonous. They can be made up of two 1-bar statements, as this, which uses the Charleston figure and a rhythmic relative—

61 63 6- 1- 6-

—or be tied together to form a single idea, like this, where the second measure is anticipated by a halfbeat:



Repeat each two-bar idea six times to complete the 12-bar framework.

4-Bar Riffs

These constitute not only the only the most complex riffs, but also afford variation beyond shorter figures because they raise the possibility of rhythmically imitating the AAB form of blues tunes. Let's look at the ways in which 4-bar riffs can be developed; each will be illustrated with one music example.

In this first phrase, a simple 1-bar figure is repeated three times; the 4-bar riff is then completed with a period, or finalizing statement:



The basis of the next possibility is a 2-bar idea seen earlier, but with a period that completes the 4-bar idea):



So far, you've seen varying degrees of internal repetition; however, it's also common for there to be no recurrence of figures over the course of the four measures. This pattern can be thought to be made up of a series of 1-bar ideas:



Regardless of whether a 4-bar pattern contains internal repetition, it can be played three times to complete the 12-bar cycle. However, the 4-bar riff also raises a couple of other possibilities. In one, you begin the third repetition like the previous two, except that you add a new period.

The other possibility follows the typical AAB blues phrase structure by repeating the first four measures twice, and then completing the form with four measures of entirely new material in a kind of call and response format. The following verse illustrates:

> My boss mistreats me, and my ex says she's gonna sue My boss mistreats me, and my ex says she's gonna sue Gonna play my guitar 'till I just ain't got the blues

Here's a 4-bar riff played twice and followed by a finalizing 4-bar idea:



A tune's mood, tempo, and time signature may call for more active patterns (for instance, a slow blues raises the possibility of including triplet- and/or sixteenth-based figures). Regardless, riff comping will dramatically expand your ability to comp chorus after chorus, as well as give you a deeper feel for the blues. Incidentally, even when you use repetitive 1- and 2-bar figures, feel free to add a new idea in the last four measures, or a finalizing idea in bars 11 and 12, the turnaround area. Now let's see how riff comping can be combined with actual chords.

Chord Riffs—Starting Simple

The following examples illustrate how only a few chords can be applied to riff figures, creating extremely effective accompaniments. Since the guitar can accommodate an overwhelming number of voicings and chord types, no single volume could adequately cover every possibility. Nevertheless, many are featured on the pages to come.

1-Bar Riffs

Bb Blues. This first example features two 12-bar choruses that strictly employ the Charleston figure and use common "jazz chords" voiced on the first four strings. The first chorus uses only one chord per change. Bars 11 and 12 use a 17-V7 rather than the common 17-V17-IIm7-V7 pattern. Starting at measure 13, however, a few additional chords take advantage of the figure's rhythmic opportunities to lessen the

repetition and sketch out the voice-leading a bit more completely. Bar 16 uses B₀7**1**5**1**9 (the same as E13, a half-step approach to E₀7). Since the measure has two different rhythmic elements (two eighth notes), two different chords could have been used, or B₀7**1**5**1**9 could have been postponed until the "and" of beat two. In bar 18, Edim7 is played on the second eighth, although it could have been placed on the first beat. Bars 19 and 20 descend chromatically to VI7; each chord retains B₀ in its uppermost voice. Measure 22's F11 is synonymous with Cm9. In the final two bars, observe that G7**1**5**1**9 is the same as D₀13, while F7**1**5**1**9 is the same as B13 (both are 5 substitutes). By the way, it's common to vary the chords from chorus to chorus; more on this in upcoming sections.













As you can see, very few chords can be extremely effective when used in the right rhythmic context. Although jazz guitarists are often admired for the many chords they play, the most important aspect is always the groove. Dozens of ultra-hip chord voicings are meaningless if they are not applied in a musically vital way. Rhythm, groove, and swing should always be the main objective. If elaborate voiceleading can then enhance the musicality of a tune, fine, but it should always play a secondary role to mood and feel.

Although no guitar book could comprehensively address every aspect of harmony as it applies to jazz guitar, a number of helpful concepts are featured in the pages ahead, including those covering block chords and voice-leading. F Blues. Here's another very simple but effective 1-bar riff; however, now the chords are voiced on the middle four strings (make a point of knowing how identical voicings appear on different string sets; for instance, the voicing of the first chord here, F13, is identical to that of the first chord, Bb13, in the previous example).

A common tone, F, is maintained in the upper voice of each chord until measure 10, which leads to the turnaround. In measures 10 through 12, a #5#9 chord is alternated with a 13th chord. In bar 11, D7#5#9 can also be interpreted as Ab13, while C7#5#9 can be viewed as Gb13, which means that the turnaround also functions as a I7-bIII7-II7-bII7, a chromatic alternative to the usual I7-VI7-IIm7 (or II7)-V7.







C Blues. This next example of the 1-bar riff, in the spirit of Kenny Burrell, features a funky Charleston-based groove and bluesy chords in the key of C. Observe that a common tone (here, D\$/E\$) is featured in the uppermost voice until measure 9, giving the entire accompaniment a funky feel. Also notice the use of \$IVdim7 on the "and" of beat two in measure 6, and G11 in bar 12, the only measure to deviate from the Charleston rhythmic pattern. Since the feel is so strong and funky, you could add a bass player and a drummer and this could practically pass for a complete tune.







39
2-Bar Riffs

F Blues. While 1-bar riffs are extremely effective when used in the appropriate context, they can become boring if over-applied or misused. In contrast, 2-bar patterns offer relief from monotony and provide additional rhythmic possibilities.

The following example features a 2-bar riff in the key of F. Notice that the riff is maintained until the turnaround. The first string carries the voice-leading, which forms a simple melody. Again, the chords are common, and the turnaround features a basic 17-V7:

"Every Other Bar Blues"









Bb Blues. This next 24-bar example features another 2-bar pattern. The first chorus is sparse and funky. The harmony is stripped down to only a double-stop—the 3rd and 7th of the chord at hand. The figure is maintained until measure 9, the beginning of the period, or closing statement. While the same overall idea continues in the second chorus, a secondary riff that employs three-note structures is added, which increases the activity.

Here, bar 14 moves to the subdominant (Ep7) as usual, but the "tune" (hypothetically) could just as easily remain on 17 until measure 17, which would actually be appropriate for the idea's overall funky feel. Playing a supporting role on the guitar often implies using relatively complete structures with three or more notes; however, frequently you only need to suggest the harmony. In this case, that is accomplished with only two critical notes.

"Double-Stop Soul"













Notice that the secondary, or answering riff of the preceding example's second chorus is based on the Charleston rhythm. In addition to featuring a contrasting rhythmic figure, it introduces a voice-leading element that often runs counter to the riff itself. For example, in measure 15, the riff moves from C[#] to D, while the following "answer" in bar 16 counters by moving from G down to F[#]. In addition to being a useful strategy that can be applied to arranging in general (including writing big-band charts), thinking in terms of counter or secondary riffs can be highly effective—not only when the guitar is the only harmonic instrument, but also in terms of supplying fills in an ensemble context.

Changing the rhythm of measure 16 would, of course, transform what was a 2-bar riff into a 4-bar riff, opening up the rhythmic possibilities even further. Before we consider that in more detail, look at this next 2-bar riff.

C Blues. This example is a continuation and elaboration of "Kenny's Funky Groove" on page 39 and, among other things, points out that you don't need to adhere to a single riff when you comp with a rhythm section. For this chorus, the Charleston figure is displaced by one beat in the first measure (so that it begins on the second beat), while the second bar uses the Charleston rhythm with an added quarter-note on beat four. Together, they form a 2-bar syncopated riff that suggests a Latin clave figure—in a blues context, no less! The 2-bar idea is continued until measure 9, which introduces a close, or finalizing idea. Try playing the two versions of "K's Funky Groove" one after another—it presents quite a challenge. Practice until you can make a seamless transition from the first to the second chorus, while accurately playing the rhythms.



"K's Funky Groove 2"







4-Bar Riffs

Bb Blues. This first illustration of a 4-bar riff is based on a figure favored by George Barnes. Although it can be used as an accompaniment, its active rhythms and aggressive quality also enable it to function as a shout chorus. (The diagonal lines indicate a "fall," which is notated a bit differently than it would be in a typical arranger's score for jazz band; here the fall should last approximately two beats.) Instead of repeating the same 4-bar phrase three times, the structure closely adheres to the 12-bar blues song form. The first two 4-bar phrases each close a bit differently, while, measure 9 again introduces a 4-bar period. The tempo is relatively bright, and the chord voicings are primarily played on the first four strings.







E Blues. "One For Barney" was inspired by the great Barney Kessel, who melded swing's extensive use of riffs and a rollicking sense of time with the sophisticated harmonies of bebop. Here, notice the open voicings and that the second string carries the upper note of the chord. In contrast to the common tone in the upper voice, the lowest is constantly moving throughout the 12-bars. (Keep in mind that it is also possible to create a moving inner line, even when maintaining an upper common tone.) Like the preceding example, this one also follows the blues song structure.

The bebop element is reflected by the opening measure, which begins with Eb11 (it could just as easily been called Bbm11, making the opening sequence a IIm7-V7 of IV7, a relatively common bebop practice). The second four bars close a bit differently and move chromatically downward to VI7 (C7#9).

The last four measures constitute a period. In measure 9, Gm7#5 is purely a "passing" chord that connects root-position Fm7 to first-inversion Fm7.







"One For Barney"

The next chord scale is a direct harmonization of every note of the chromatic scale, except for the 7th degree, which is omitted due to the focus on dominant chords. Notice the use of of altered chords. Again, there are many possibilities for harmonizing each tone.



Transpose the preceding chord scales to all keys. Of course, the more chords you know, the more options are at your disposal for threading them together. While the voice-leading possibilities with block chords are somewhat limited, they still enable you to often integrate moving lines (internal or external), as well as employ common tones. In the examples to come, instances of these devices will be noted as they occur.

Basic Voice-Leading

B Blues. While many of the chords of the next two examples were introduced earlier, here they are used in a freer rhythmic context.

Ideas for this first two-chorus example in B grew out of jamming with the late great Lenny Breau one afternoon, as he played one subtle blues variation after another. Rhythmically, the approach is linear overall, and the chords—including several altered structures—closely follow the jazz version of the standard 12-bar blues progression.

The pickup anticipates measure 1's I7 chord; E13 can be thought of either as a half-step approach to bar 2's IV7 (E9, which anticipates the second measure by an eighth value) or as Bb7#5#9, a direct substitute for I7. In bar 2, Edim7 connects IV7 to I7.

Measure 3 features a common, effective device used by Barney Kessel and many others—a half-step movement away from and back to the same chord. Here the initial motion is upward from Bb13 to B13, but the idea works equally well if you move down to A13. Another anticipation is used at the end of bar 4, while measure 6 again features a diminished 7th connection to I7.

Bars 8 and 9 use a Charleston relative. Note the altered structure in measures 8, 9, and 10. Bars 11 and 12 go from Bb13 to G7#9 to C7#5#9, which moves down chromatically to F13.

The second chorus, beginning at measure 13, has a less active rhythmic scheme that uses longer values. Bar 15 features a different rhythmic twist on the half-step movement away from and back to the same chord that was just discussed.

At the end of measure 19, VI7 is anticipated by an eighth value. Notice the altered chord (G7#5#9) used for VI7. Like the preceding chorus, this structure is moved down one half-step for II7 (C13), and then taken down one half-step more to realize V7 (F7#5#9). This same type of chromatic device is again applied to the turnaround.

Another aspect of this example—and the ones to come—bears mentioning: the fact that it doesn't strictly follow the same chord changes from chorus to chorus. While here the deviation is slight, in other cases it may be more striking. Regardless, let your ears, which should always be open to your surround-ings, guide you. The degree to which you can embellish a basic chord progression depends on a variety of factors, including the instrumentation of the ensemble you happen to be playing with and how familiar the members are with each other. If the guitar is the only chordal instrument, then the opportunities for varying a progression are broad. Even when the bass player or soloist momentarily goes in a different direction, odds are that it will work with what you are doing—often merely due to the fact that everything is going by so fast that it's difficult to notice the resulting incongruities. Ultimately, though, knowledge-able musicians listen carefully so they can complement and change direction at a moment's notice.

"Jammin' With Lenny"





AL BLOOM









50

F Blues. The next two choruses fairly closely adhere to the standard blues progression. Overall, the rhythms are spacious and again linear.

The pickup moves chromatically to 17 (F9), and A13 on the fourth beat of bar 1 approaches IV7 from a half-step below. In measure 6, Bdim7 connects IV7 (Bb13) to 17 (F9), while bar 9 features a closely voiced Gm9 (IIm7), which resolves nicely to C7b9\$11 (V7) in measure 10.

The ascending motion in the first measure of the second chorus (bar 13) is assisted by F\$dim7, a passing chord that connects I7 to IV7. In bar 16, A13 approaches IV7 (B>13) from a half-step below. Finally, measure 20 features a common tone (F) as VI7 (D7\$5\$9) is approached from a half-step above.



TRACK 17

"Bebop Groove"







All Blues







Increased Voice-Leading Activity

In the next examples, the voice-leading is more calculated. The net result is longer phrases and smoother upper-voice motion.

The Blues Scale Factor

C Blues. Voicing the chords of the jazz version of the 12-bar blues progression beneath the notes of the blues scale can produce some incredibly hip sounds, as this next example, in C, demonstrates. As you apply this idea, keep the relationship between each note of the scale and each chord in the progression in mind. For instance, the C blues scale reads C, Eb, F, F#/Gb, G, Bb. In relationship to C7, C is the root, Eb is the \$9th, F is the 11th, F\$ is the b5th (or raised 11th), G is the 5th, and Bb is the b7th. In relationship to F7, C is the fort, Eb is the lowered 7th, F is the root, F\$ is the 99th, G is the 9th, and Bb is the 11th. Continue this process on your own. While every chord will not necessarily support every note, the ones that do can be very effective and produce some interesting extensions and alterations.

Analyze the following example, especially noting the half-step approaches and the turnaround. While this example exclusively uses the notes of the blues scale in the upper voice of the chords, the idea can be expanded to include other notes and concepts—as seen in not only some of the examples you've already encountered, but also some of the ones to come.

"Uptown Funk"





By Blues. In the first three measures of "Twelfth Inning Stretch," notice how the high D note descends to F on the second string. In measure 3, a chromatic phrase that begins on the "and" of beat three leads to bar 4's Fm7, a common substitute for I7. However, instead of forming a IIm7-V7 of E9, it moves down chromatically to E13, which in turn resolves to E9. (In other words, instead of preceding E9 with a temporary IIm7-V7, IIm7-JII7 is used.)

A nice chord cliché begins on the "and" of bar 5's fourth beat and continues into measure 7. While the chords can be analyzed in more than one way, they are more a product of voicing the melodic line C-A-E The phrase in measures 7 and 8 is equally nice, where inversions of B/9 and B/13 lead up to G7#559 (enharmonic to D/9).

After bar 9's Cm7 voicings, there are a couple of common but nice sequences. One comes in measure 10 where F11, which could also be thought of as Cm11, leads to F13b9. While here the sequence is applied to a dominant context, it could also serve as a IIm7-V7, where each chord is played for two beats. Another nice IIm7-V7 is used in measure 12 (transfer the voicings to strings two through five, and you're liable to discover its source).

Bars 13 through 15 feature a common sequence (notice the Bb common tone). Measure 16 again uses the IIm7-V7 of Eb idea found in the preceding chorus. Instead of moving back to I7 by means of IVdim7, however, a dim7 passing chord voice-leads to IVm7-bVII7—the common "back door" approach to I7. From the last part of bar 20 to the end, a series of interesting "inside" chords—voiced on strings two through five—complete the comping pattern. Analyze this section carefully on your own; these versatile chords have many uses.

Again, use caution when you play though different changes from chorus to chorus.















F Blues. Here, voice-leading is emphasized yet again. In the first three measures, notice the long phrase that starts on high D and moves down to second string A.

Bar 4 features a common bop resolution—a IIm7-V7 that's a half-step above the target chord (in this case, Bb9). Remember that you can also think of this as a IIm7-V7 based on the b5 substitute of F7, which is the V7 of Bb (the b5 sub of F7 is B7).

The chords in measures 5 and 6 are a common guitar move, as are the ones in bars 9 and 10 and 11 and 12 (measure 12's C7b9\$11 is typical of voicings played by Tal Farlow that require the thumb for a sixth- or fifth-string bass note).

The second chorus uses a sequence seen before: I7-IV7-IVdim7-I7. In measure 16, inside chords are

used to realize a nice IIm7-V7 of B₉9.

Bar 18 is also interesting and common. While it begins to suggest a "back door" approach to 17, instead it moves down by half-steps (IVm7-bVII7-IIIm7-VI7-bIIIm7-VI7) until measure 21's Gm9 (IIm7) is reached. Again, sparingly use this kind of variation.

The last four measures feature more close voicings. At the end of measure 21, Am9 makes a nice passing chord leading to C11. In bar 23, D7alt (so named due to the large number of alterations) could also be thought of as F7[#]9. Finally, measure 24 features another common and effective guitar move. Although it's sometimes appropriate to limit yourself to certain types of voicings and repetitive riff-based rhythmic figures, it's usually best to remain flexible and open to a wide variety of devices, as these choruses illustrate. In the long run, flexibility keeps you listening intently so you can spontaneously react and respond to the music around you, possibly imitating ideas at one moment, filling voids the next, and extending phrases at another. As always, the more approaches, chords, fingerboard command, rhythms, and general experience you have at your disposal, the more equipped you'll be to make a choice that is musical.

"Thinkin' Tal"















57

Slow Blues & Advanced Voice Leading

G Blues. Although Joe Pass and Joe Diorio are especially great at voice-leading that features a chord per beat, this next example is more for demonstration purposes than it represents a realistic example of what you can do in a practical playing situation. Still, it is possible to voice-lead this extensively in the context of a slow blues (note the tempo marking). The degree to which you adhere to the chord-per-beat format is, of course, entirely up to you and may vary from portions of a tune to the entire thing. Here, a wide variety of voicings, inversions, and chord qualities are employed. As you work your way through the example, pay particular attention to line formed by the upper voice of each chord.

The first chorus is linear in quality. On the fourth beat of bar 1, Db13 resolves to C13 from a half-step above. In measure 2, #IVdim7 (C#dim7) resolves to bar 3's Vm7 (here, Dm9) instead of the usual I7 in second-inversion. Remember: A Vm7-I7-IV7 is equivalent to a IIm7-V7 of IV7, where IV7 is treated as a temporary I7 chord.

Bars 5 and 6—all basically IV7—feature two nice internal half-step approaches. The same device is used in measures 7 (which moves to IV7; here, C7#9, initially) and 8. Bar 9 uses three different qualities of Am7 chords before it moves to Eb13, which resolves down to D13 in measure 10. The turnaround (bars 11 and 12) uses a combination of lush voicings and half-step approaches.

In contrast, the upper-voice line of the second chorus is based on this four-bar riff, whose repetitive nature creates some challenges and interesting common-tone situations:



In measure 13, notice the descending internal moving line: E-D\$-D. At the beginning of bar 14, Gm7 substitutes for C7. The last beat of bar 14 to the first beat of bar 15 features contrary motion: bass G moves down to F, while melodic Bb moves up to B\$. It all demonstrates that you can achieve almost any type of voice-leading with block chords. More contrary motion: this time, between measure 3's third and fourth beats (Abalt equals Ab7\$59\$9\$, a half-step approach to bar 16's G9).

Measures 17 and 18—all basically C7 (IV7)—include several half-step approaches, while the last two beats of bar 19 through the first two beats of measure 20 feature two consecutive IIm7-V7's that, in the key of G, translate into Vm7-I7 (Dm11-G7b5) and IVm7-bVII7 (Cm7b5-F9). Half-step approaches are used from the last beat of bar 20 to the first beat of measure 22. Finally, carefully analyze the turnaround, which moves from I7 to IV7 to IIIm7 to VI7 to IIm7 to V7 in the space of eight beats.

A slow blues can accommodate many identities: from riff treatments seen earlier in this volume to triplet feels to the elaborate voice-leading here. Let your feel and understanding—heart and soul—for the blues point the way.



"Blues For Two Joes"

















60

Beyond Bebop

Triads Over Bass Notes

While there are many chordal concepts beyond the bebop sphere that can be used in a blues context, space and scope limit this volume to two possibilities. The first involves structures comprising a triad plus a bass note, which can produce some intriguing results.

If this harmonic technique is unfamiliar, begin by taking a triad (either root position, first inversion, or second inversion) and placing every possible bass note beneath it. In the following example, a first-inversion B₂ triad is voiced above a chromatic bass line:



Since three of the preceding configurations are merely triads with one of the voices doubled (Bb/Bb; Bb/D; Bb/F) and one is a third-inversion 7th chord (Bb/Ab), it is the remaining structures that provide the most potential for non-standard applications. To fluently apply these, it is important to be aware of both the triad/bass note relationship and the overall composite name or names (for example, Bb/A equals Bbmaj7, Gm9, Ebmaj9b5, and so on). While any triad can be voiced over any bass note, the following examples primarily use majors and minors. Since only the triad/bass note name is given, keep the standard 12-bar blues changes in mind. (Triads over bass notes are sometimes referred to as "slash chords.")

Standard Structure, New Results

Bb Blues. The first three bars feature root-position major triads. In measure 1, Eb/F equals Bb11, while Db/D is the same as Bb7\$9. From the last part of measure 1 to the first part of measure 2, the Db major triad remains stationary as the bass note changes. (Db/Eb equals Eb11.) Measure 2 also features C/Db, which is the same as Eb13b9. Measure 3 uses a second-inversion major triad to produce a structure that equals Bb7\$9. Overall, simple whole- and half-step triadic movement results in some very interesting voice-leading. Bar four retains the same bass note (D) as the preceding measure; F\$/D is the same as Bb7\$5\$9.

Conveying a distinct IV7 sound can be difficult with triads over bass notes; while bar 5's chord symbol is notated with a slash, it is really a third-inversion dominant 7th. On the "and" of the same measure, A/D[#] implies a diminished sound, functioning as #IVdim7.

Db/D on the "and" of bar 6's fourth beat again functions as 17 (here, Bb7\$9). Subsequently, the structure is moved up a whole-step (Eb/E) and then a half-step (E/F), where it functions as measure 8's VI7 (here, G13b9). Also in bar 8, Abm/D equals G735b9. From measure 8 to measure 9, moving Abm/D to Gm/E not only results in contrary motion, but also conveys the change from VI7 to IIm7.

Finally we arrive at the turnaround. Although the letter names of the triads suggest strict ascending motion, they are voiced so that the upper note behaves more melodically. At the same time, the bass line ascends chromatically. The result features a combination of similar and contrary motion that resolves to Boadd9, which begins the hypothetical second chorus.







F Blues. This chorus shares many features with the preceding example. Again, keep the basic blues changes in mind as you look at the chord symbols.

In the first three measures, a root-position triad moves down chromatically. Coupled with the indicated bass notes, the symbols are equivalent to F11-F13b9-Bb7\$9-Bbm13b5-F11.

Again, conveying a distinct IV7 sound in a blues context can be difficult with triads over bass notes. Consequently, although the symbol in bar 5 is indicated as Fm/Bb, it is really only a Bb9. In measure 6, Eb/D functions as Bb7 and E/F functions as #IVdim7, resolving to bar 7's F/Eb, a third-inversion F7 chord.

Ab/D, on the "and" of bar 7's fourth beat, equals D7b5b9 (VI7); the Ab triad resolves down a half-step to measure 9's G/D#. The ensuing chords up to the end of measure 10 impart diminished sounds that imply G7 (II7) and then C7 (V7). Finally, observe the contrary motion In bar 11, as bass B moves to C and upper-voice C moves down to Bb.

"Down Pat"







Modal Concepts

While modal tunes can accommodate any number of comping approaches—including riff figures that use few chords and linear, bebop-like rhythms that incorporate a wide array of inversions and voicings—by definition they also enable you to draw ideas from the diatonically harmonized scale of the prevailing chord at any given moment. Since most modal tunes feature very few chord changes and thereby provide an opportunity to explore possibilities that rapidly changing harmonies preclude, they usually rely upon the traditional 17-IV7-V7 progression instead of the basic sequence common to swing and bebop. In other words, a typical modal blues is the marriage of an old chord pattern and a progressive harmonic concept.

Since the prevailing tonality of I7-IV7-V7 chords is dominant, comping ideas can be drawn from the diatonically harmonized Mixolydian mode. Although any number of voicings and inversions can provide a starting point for harmonizing any given scale or mode, the following example begins with a common G13 chord (the subsequent structures are derived by moving each of G13's notes up to its next position in the mode; in effect it's as if four Mixolydian modes are being played simultaneously, each one starting at a different point):



Harmonized modes, like the preceding example, can be viewed in several ways at the same time. Here are three possibilities, all of which can be useful depending on the situation:

 In diatonically harmonized fashion, where the letter name of each successive structure advances to its next position in the alphabet, in which case the harmonies of the preceding example could be identified like so: G13, Am7[‡]5, Bm7[‡]5, Cmaj13, Dm13, Em7[‡]5, and Fmaj13.

2. In "direct" fashion, where each successive structure is though to be related to the "parent" (here, G13). For example, the preceding chords could be identified as G13, G11, Gadd9, G11, G11, G11, G13. (Observe that the limitations of chord symbolization results in two structures called G13 and four called G11; closely analyze chords with the same name to familiarize yourself with their subtle differences.)

3. In terms of synonymous structures. For instance, the preceding example's second harmony can be viewed as G11, Am7[‡]5, Dm11, and so on.

In practical terms, whenever a tune features a single chord for a relatively extended period, depending on the tempo, you can create comping phrases by threading together structures based on its harmonized mode. As you do so, keep in mind that some structures may convey a stronger sense of the chord at hand than others and that the weaker ones should generally be viewed as passing chords that connect one strong point to another.

Modal Comping

TRACK 23

G Blues. This two-chorus example features ideas suggested by playing with Lenny Breau. The first four measures are based on 17; the first three remain within the prevailing mode, while bar four features a chromatic phrase that leads to IV7. (Notice that on the "and" of measure 4's fourth beat, the prevailing mode changes to C Mixolydian.)

When the tune moves back to 17 on the "and" of bar 6's fourth beat, two structures (G11 and G6add9) that are unrelated to the harmonized mode used for the beginning of the piece are employed. Mixing related and unrelated voicings is another common device that affords many other possibilities. Here, both structures retain the G Mixolydian tonality and feature an internal common fone (A).

Measure 8 uses a chromatic idea that resolves to V7 (D11). And in measure 10, the mode briefly switches to C Mixolydian. The final two measures avoid the swing/bebop cycle-based turnaround.

Bars 14 and 15 of the second chorus are again based on G Mixolydian, while measure 16 chromatically moves to IV7 (C13).

Bars 17 and 18 are based on the C Mixolydian mode for the most part, and resolve back to 17. Measure 19 uses an internal half-step approach (Ab9 back to G9) while bar 20 approaches D13 from a half-step above.

Again, the last two bars avoid the cycle-based turnaround.

"Trane Stop"













66

Afterthoughts

Depending on style, taste, tempo, and mood, a wide variety of approaches can be applied to any given tune. While riff ideas, linear phrases, triads over bass notes, and modal concepts have been presented in this chapter as separate entities, remember that it is possible to integrate them in a single performance. Exactly how it is done is up to your own imagination and taste.

the Report of the

4 YOUR FINGERS DO THE WALKING-BASS LINE/CHORD COMPING

Playing fingerstyle walking bass lines and chords at the same time is one of the hippest sounds in the jazz guitar spectrum—as players like Joe Pass, Lenny Breau, Ron Escheté, and Tuck Andress have proved many times. While you can get by with conventional combo-type comping or a straight-four rhythm approach in contexts where there isn't a real bass player, walking bass lines add an entirely new dimension. (It's possible to play with a combination of pick and fingers, as well as fingers only.)

and the

This type of comping differs in approach to solo pieces that incorporate melody, harmony, and a walking line where diverse elements and events require that you adhere to set fingerings—something more akin to playing a classical guitar piece than jazz. The style described here is designed to give the illusion of two or three parts occurring simultaneously, as you retain the freedom to vary your bass line at will, thereby avoiding monotonous repetition that can bore yourself, listeners, and the player you're supporting. As with practically everything associated with the guitar, there is almost no limit to the possibilities, although exactly how elaborately you can comp chords and play bass lines depends on a variety of factors, including tempo (the faster the piece, the less space there is to fill) and your own knowledge and ability.

As Joe Pass once said, "The most important aspect of playing chords and walking bass lines at the same time is the bass line itself." While bass lines vary in nature, overall you should think in terms of long, linear shapes that gracefully move up or down in register and then seamlessly reverse course. Once you understand and are able to achieve this concept to a degree, the next step is to add chords for harmonic support and rhythmic punctuation. Here's where a good knowledge of the easy-to-grab three-note chords described in Chapter 2 can be invaluable.

Constructing Walking Bass Lines

Since presenting bass lines in all common jazz keys could fill its own volume, all of the following examples are in G major, which provides easy access to these two common fingerboard landmarks: a sixthstring tonic (in G, the 3rd fret) and a fifth string tonic (at the 10th fret). Your initial goal should be to construct an effective walking bass line starting from each of these locations. Venturing above the fifth string, 10th fret, is common and often necessary. While the fifth-string area above the 5th fret overlaps the notes of the fourth string, confining your ideas to the 6th and 5th strings will not only maintain timbrel continuity in terms of the sound of the strings, but also force you into thinking more linearly, like a bass player who moves along the fingerboard rather than across it. That having been said, let's take a look at some bass lines.

In general, walking lines involve various combinations of two basic types of musical movement:

1. Linear motion that proceeds both diatonically and chromatically.

Widely variable skips that can include thirds-based and root-5th (arpeggio-related) activity. These are illustrated in the following examples, which cover the first two measures, from 17 to IV7.

Bass Line Movement



Roots & Approaches

To properly fulfill your function as a bass player, you need to play with great time and swing, delineate the chord changes, and vary your line and chord punctuations. Time and swing grow out of feel for and familiarity with the idiom, while playing with variety comes from experience. Delineating the changes relies on playing the right note at the right time, establishing musical landmarks as you go. More often than not these landmarks are the root of the chord at hand and occur on the first beat of the measure, although the remaining chord tones can also be used. (Rule: When two bars of a chord are featured, target the root for the downbeat of the first measure, reserving weaker-sounding notes like the 3rd or the 5th for the downbeat of the second bar.) With step-wise motion, a root generally can be approached in one of three ways: (1) from a half-step below, (2) from a scale step above (which may be either a half- or whole-step), and (3) from a half-step above. Thoroughly learn the following bass line so that playing it becomes second nature. Analyze how it outlines the chord changes, and especially notice the root connections. Fingerings are included, but remember that there are often several possibilities. Fingering takes on increasing importance when chords are added to the equation. A detailed description follows.





The preceding example begins on sixth-string G and walks up to fifth-string C. In measure 1, A chromatically connects scale tones A and B, and bar 2's C is approached from a half-step below. Here's an alternative ascending walking line:



Measure 2 continues upward with the same idea, approaching bar 3's G by skip. In measure 3, the direction is reversed, leading to bar 4's Vm7-I7 (Dm7-G7, a Ilm7-V7 of C) from a half-step above. Keep in mind that utilizing substitute chords can be useful in adding variety to areas where one chord is played for two or more measures. Measure 4 features root-5th movement (D to A), moves to G from a whole-step above, and then approaches bar 5's C from a half-step above. In the following examples, the first is a variation for measure 4's Vm7-I7(it replaces G7 with Db7, ab5 substitute), while the second possibility forgoes the II-V altogether (notice how it surrounds bar 5's C with notes that are a scale tone below, B, and a scale tone above, D):



Measures 5 and 6 feature a hip line; bar 5 resolves to the 5th of C (G) in bar 6. Then the line skips down to E and walks chromatically upward to G in bar 7. Here's an an alternative route that targets G's 3rd (B) on bar 7's downbeat:



Your line needn't be in constant motion. In measures 7 and 8, the roots of G7, F\$7, and F7 are all played twice, while bar 9's A root is approached from a half-step below. While there are several alternative progressions (chordal routes) for bars 7 and 8, they will be addressed in other parts of this section. Here are two common variations for this type of chromatic walk down:



Measure 9 features an Am arpeggio (A-C-E) and chromatically descends to the root of bar 10's D. The line then walks down, purely by step, to the G root in measure 11. Bars 11 and 12 have a typical turnaround. Especially analyze whether the resolution to each chord's root moves up or down and if the approach is by a half- or a whole-step. There are many possible alternatives, several of which are covered later in this chapter. (Another alternative is playing bass lines in octaves.)

Chords & Walking Lines Together

This is the next step to being able to play bass lines and chords at the same time on the guitar. As mentioned earlier, chords reinforce the harmonic frame of reference and add rhythmic punch. Until playing walking bass lines becomes almost effortless, keep things simple. Chords can associated with the first beat of a measure, as in these examples—



—or added elsewhere, as in examples to come. And it's good to be able to play any given chord with as many fingerings as possible.

The next example features a complete bass line that you should by now be familiar with. To keep things simple, it features chords played only on the "and" of beat one—with the exception of measures

4, 7, 8, 11, and 12, which feature two chords per measure and therefore include chords played on the "and" of beat three. Notice that fingering now takes on increased importance, enabling you to grab chords quickly, conveniently, and accurately while maintaining the bass line's flow.

The chords have a dual purpose: to enhance the sense of swing by providing rhythmic kicks and to help state the harmony more thoroughly; however, playing them in such a predictable manner, while effective to a degree, can grow tiresome to both the player and the listener. Of course, the main way in which to overcome that tendency is to increase your command of both bass lines and chordal punctuation.



"Joe's Swing"







Cidim7

6

C7

10

3

Increasing Rhythmic Variety—Chord Placement

Being able to vary where chords fall in relationship to the beat can mean the difference between an interesting, musical bass line and one that is stagnant. Even subtle changes can make a significant difference. To see how, first learn this bass line (it starts in a new geographical location, based on fifth-string G at the 10th fret; also try it, as well as the other lines in this chapter, in octaves.)—



10







Before moving on, a few words about the preceding example. Notice the way the line descends in measures 1 and 2—a very common route. This time the chromatic line in bar 3 is applied to G7—you've seen it before, but for C7. Measure 5 features a cyclic type of idea that continues into the first half of bar 6, and is adapted to accommodate C#dim7 leading to G7 in measure 7. Bars 7 and 8 progress similarly to "Stormy Monday." Measure 9 has a common minor walking line that continues upward through bar 10's D7. Finally, measures 11 and 12 feature a common turnaround. On your own, analyze how the first beat of every measure is approached.

Other Bass Line Routes

So far in looking at walking bass lines you've seen some minor deviations from the straight I7-IV7-VI7-IIm7-V7 types of changes. To review, in measure 4, you can use either a Vm7-I7 or a Vm7-bV7 that resolves to IV7 (if you think of IV7 as a temporary tonic chord, or I7, these are merely a IIm7-V7 or a IIm7-bII7 that lead to I7, in this case, C7). In the second half of bar 6 we've seen how \$IVdim7 can lead to I7. In resolving to V17 in bar 8, measure 7 and the first half of bar 8 have moved down by going I7-VII7-VII7-VI7 (G7-F\$7-F7-E7) or moved up with I7-IIm7-IIIm7-VI7 (G7-Am7-Bm7-E7).

While myriad variations can be confusing, it can be helpful to know (as mentioned elsewhere in this book) that musical direction—whether a voice is moving up or down—tends to favor some avenues more than others. Descending lines gravitate to some harmonic corridors, while ascending ones lean toward others. Good jazz bassists, and other members of an ensemble, commonly imply if not outright state different chord progressions as they move from one chorus to the next, and variation is to be expected. Ultimately, the key is knowing the possibilities and listening as you play. That having been said, let's take a look at a few more routes that are effective on the guitar (pay attention to the bass lines;

there are many possible chord voicings, and the rhythms have been intentional kept simple.). Measure 1. Here the line starts out in one direction and then makes a sudden leap upward:



Measures 1 and 2. This avenue relies on repeated notes and is one of the most common bass clichés going. Although you'll find other keys that this works better in, it still sounds pretty good in this key and register. Here the very first chord is indicated as I7 (in this case, G), but you'll often find it stated as I6 (G6) or just plain I (G). In fact, the entire progression is most often indicated as I6-I7-IV7-IVm6-I. Bar 3 is given with the bass note only, since there are several chordal possibilities. Again, the most important aspect is the bass line.



Measure 2. Three ways of connecting IV7 to 17 with \$IVdim7. The first one features root-5th movement, while the second doubles the bass notes as it chromatically moves from the root of C7 up to the 5th of G7. Although IV7-\$IVdim7 naturally leads to a second-inversion I7, you can manipulate the line so that it takes you back to the root, as in the third example.



Measures 3 and 4. These next two examples use a series of chromatically descending chords. In the case of the first example, remember that there are any number of ways of getting into measure 4. (For an alternative bass route in measure 3, try playing a dominant 7th arpeggio: G, B, D, F, leading to bar 4's downbeat. Here measure 4 is harmonized with a chord per beat—essentially a short series of IIm7-JII7's; however, it's possible to expand this chromatic sequence so that each chord lasts two beats, as in the second example, which begins on bar 3's downbeat and uses all minor 7th chords until two beats before C7.



Measure 6. The "back door" approach-IVm7-JVII7-I7- which is characteristic of so many bebop tunes:



Measures 7 and 8. You've seen the basic idea before, but here the line is completely chromatic in bar 7 up to the first beat of measure 8, and then turns toward VI7 (you could continue the line upward to the root of VI7).



76



The progression beginning in bar 7-17-IV7-IIIm7(or IIIm7/5)-V17-is associated with bebop. There are many ways you can get into measure 7 from bar 6; this is one possibility:

Here's the same progression, but the bass walks. Again, bar 6 is also included:



The same progression again, but in a different area of the fingerboard. Notice that this time it starts directly on bar 7:



This one chromatically approaches VI7 like you've seen before, but from a different fingerboard perspective:



Measures 9 and 10. Keep in mind that II7 can always be used in place of IIm7. You've already seen a couple of the most common possibilities with IIm7-V7 in bars 9 and 10. This one descends from 6th-string A to low E, but then jumps up to D:



In a higher register, this one moves in a single direction:



Measures 11 and 12. While it's always possible to use sequences like I7-bIIImaj7-bVImaj7-bIImaj7 and IIIm7-VI7-IIm7-V7, turnarounds like I7-VI7-IIm7(or II7)-V7 and the chromatic I7-bIII7-II7-bII7 sound bluesy. Remember that in a slow blues especially, you can also use turnarounds like the I-I7-IV6-IVm6-I-bVI7-V7 shown in Chapter 2.

As mentioned earlier, there are many possible variations in terms of root approaches for walking through a I-VI-II-V pattern. You've already seen a couple. This one approaches each root from a half-step above and illustrates a new route (you could also begin it on the sixth string, 3rd fret):



78

The chromatic I7-JII7-II7-JII7 turnaround works best when you double the bass notes, although there are other possibilities (on your own, work out variations in higher fingerboard positions):



Advanced Rhythms & Concepts

Now that you have a grasp of basic rhythms and are familiar with many of the chordal routes that walking bass lines can take, it's time to attend to more advanced matters—all of which will help you markedly vary your walking bass comping from chorus to chorus. The first topic concerns more advanced rhythms and how they apply to not only chords, but also to the bass lines themselves.

Fingering is often critical to playing additional rhythmic figures. The preceding examples primarily used short figures, usually associated with the first beat of the measure. You may have noticed, however, that in some cases, it was easy to sustain a chord beyond its notated time value because of its fingering and physical shape. By the same token, making slight but deliberate changes in the way you finger certain chords enables you to alter the length of their time value, which is an extremely valuable resource and something to keep in mind as you work through the upcoming material. For instance, fingering the following chords in the manner shown enables you to sustain them beyond just an eighth or quarter value:



Anticipation. Anticipating a chord a half-beat before it's normally played results in a very hip sound—but it's often tricky to achieve and frequently requires careful fingering that can be hard to do on the spur of the moment. Nevertheless, the effect it creates is worth the effort. In this simple example, the conventional fingering limits the length of the notes:



With a few adjustments, though, the chords can be sustained for the entire measure, as in the following. Practically anything is possible, although, again, some rhythms and durations will be difficult to play spontaneously because they require so much preplanning.



Riff figures. Maintaining a consistent rhythmic figure throughout a 12-bar chorus can be extremely effective. Some rhythmic figures are easy to execute along with a walking bass line, as in the case of this example:



But certain figures can make things extremely difficult. This example features the same bass line as the preceding one, but its Charleston-like figure makes maintaining the bass and the chords quite a bit more problematic. Try maintaining the figure while playing a complete 12-bar walking bass line; write things out if necessary. You'll find the process enlightening and technically beneficial.



Quarter-note triplet (sometimes referred to as "super triplet") figures are also very hip-sounding, and especially work well for measures 7 and 8 and 11 and 12 of a 12-bar blues. To help you digest the rhythmic values, the following examples show the same passage notated in two different ways. The first example breaks each quarter-note triplet down into two eighth-note triplets, making things easier to count out, while the second example shows how the figure should really be notated. Carefully count these out so you can play them accurately, because they will be one of the hippest devices in your rhythmic vocabulary. You should also be able to invert the figure by playing the chords as straight quarter-notes and the bass notes as quarter-note triplets.





Using quarter-note triplets in different locations and in different ways can also be effective. Here, the first two beats of bar 1 include a quarter-note triplet figure:



Bass line figures. Bass lines needn't always be made up of straight quarter-notes. There are many possibilities. In measure 1 of this example, notice how the root is doubled; beat four surrounds the upcoming C with a scale tone below an a scale tone above:



And here's a nice turnaround that works well at a slow tempo (also try moving up to every root, or moving down to every root):



Chord Volcings. So far the voicings have been limited to three-notes on strings six, four, and three; however, you are really only limited to what you know and are capable of grabbing while juggling the bass line. The final example coming up gives a few possibilities.

Putting It All Together In G

Many of the preceding elements are employed in the following two choruses, which also include a variety of chord voicings. While in places this example begins to approach a solo guitar piece in complexity, it is designed to be a hypothetical accompaniment for an ensemble that includes at least one other instrument and might even feature another guitar, drums and a horn, or any combination of instruments with the exception of the bass. Be sure to observe the relatively slow tempo.

Measure 1 can be played exactly as notated with the fingering that's shown; however, you'll have to slightly cut short bar 2's C7 chord as you finger the bass G. Also, notice that the final G anticipates the upcoming downbeat. In measure 3 three-note chords are used to harmonize the bass line, which is covered in Chapter 2. Bar 4 implies the progression VIm7-bVI7-Vm7-bV7 and uses some common four-note voicings. Carefully learn the rhythms used for its last two beats; the final figure, a bass note followed by a chord on the second triplet eighth-note value, can be particularly effective.

Measures 5 through 8 employ a familiar bass line and use four-note voicings, which sound particular-

ly good in 7 and 8 (observe the use of Bm755). In bar 9, it's necessary to play C[#] with your 4th finger in order to sustain Am7 for its notated value. With the exception of the use of D9#11 on the fourth beat, everything is fairly conventional in measure 10. Bar 12 briefly shifts to an ascending melodic line; beat four's bass is sacrificed in favor of a chordal figure that anticipates measure 13. Bar 13 also deviates from using a conventional walking bass and anticipates C13 on the "and" of beat four.

To hold C13 for its full time value in measure 14, keep fingers 2, 3 and 4 firmly planted as you reach for the Bb at the 6th fret. Bars 15 through 18 feature more anticipations, some internal to the measure. (In bar 15, notice the repeated bass notes, which create a nice effect.) Measure 18 uses a IVm7-bVII7 that resolves to 19's chromatic sequence with its quarter-note triplets.

Using a full barre in measure 21 will enable you to play the values as written. The bass line features root-5th movement. Bar 22 is relatively conventional and uses a bluesy V729 chord, while the chromatic turnaround in measures 23 and 24 features anticipation throughout. Things conclude with a short, single-note tag.















84

Fingers Do The Walking



Bass Lines In Other Keys

Now that you have been introduced to a wide variety of bass lines, devices, and approaches, the next step is to apply these ideas to other "jazz" keys.

F Blues. This first line is in the key of F and works its way up from the sixth string. 1st fret, using a route seen earlier. Apply chords on your own.





B Blues. This line works it way down through an avenue traveled before, but begins in a lower register. Again, learn it on its own, and then apply chords.





Afterthoughts

Walking bass lines can be simple or extremely complicated—how far you take things depends on your own taste and willingness to spend time developing them. As always, the most important aspect is swing, the groove you establish, and the integrity of the bass line. Once you get those aspects down, the rest will take care of itself. The next step is to begin transposing these idea to other keys, and apply the concepts to tunes other than 12-bar blues.

ALL BLUES

comping styles, chords & grooves

MB96842BCD \$22.95



y Jim Ferguson Guitar Master Class Publications